|   | IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA  |
|---|--|
| а | CASE NO. 74,902  |
|   |  |
|   |  |
| а | GREGORY SCOTT ENGLE,   |
| a | Petitioner/Appellant,  |
|   | ν.   |
|   | STATE OF FLORIDA; RICHARD L. DUGGER,                                     |
| а | Respondents/Appellees.   |
| • | ON APPEAL FROM THE FOURTH JUDICIAL                                       |
|   | CIRCUIT COURT, IN AND FOR DUVAL<br>COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA              |
| • |  |
|   | INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT   |
| а |  |
|   | LARRY HELM SPALDING  |
|   | Capital Collateral Representative<br>Florida Bar No. 0125540             |
| Э | BILLY H. NOLAS   |
| а | Chief Assistant CCR  |
|   | Florida Bar No. 806821   |

#### **INTRODUCTION**

It is true everything they say. I have prejudice against Engle. I sat there and listened to the evidence for a week, and I being a normal average human being, I developed, as any judge would, the opinion that he deserved to die for what he did to that woman. If I had it to do all over again, I'd sentence him to die again and I don't think it's a fair shake for me to sit in judgment on these matters feeling about this cruel murder as I do.

(Judge Santora's comments at the hearing on Mr. Engle's motion to recuse, R.

App. 256-57).

After the hearing was concluded, Judge Santora further explained that he was troubled by Mr. Engle's earlier motion to disqualify him from the resentencing in **1984**, but noted that he felt he had a duty to hear the case and did not want to pass the responsibility on to another judge. Judge Santora openly discussed how this case affected him. He indicated he could have saved the State a lot of money in **1979.** He explained:

If I had had a .45 in 1979, I would have taken care of it at that time. That's how mad I was at that time.

The judge explained that after hearing everything that came out at the trial in **1979**, he believed Mr. Engle deserved to die. Judge Santora stated that he still had those strong feelings concerning the case. His feelings were based on what he heard at the **1979** trial.

(R. App. 430) (Affidavit of Thomas Dunn).

The judge then considered the motion to disqualify filed by Mr. Engle. Consideration of this motion was quite lengthy. The judge asked many questions and Mr. Nolas and Mr. Menser argued and responded to many points. Mr. Engle's motion rested on allegations of among other things, statements in the record reflecting the judge's prejudice against Mr. Engle and a letter written by the judge in **1988** in which the judge stated that, "There is absolutely no way this animal should be granted executive clemency."

After continued argument by both counsel and discussion between the judge and both counsel, the judge granted the motion to disqualify and admitted that he was prejudiced against Mr. Engle. The judge further admitted, after the on-the-record proceedings concluded, that during Mr. Engle's 1979 trial he developed the opinion that Mr. Engle deserved to die. The judge stated that if he had to do it all over again, he would sentence Mr. Engle to die again, for what he (Mr. Engle) did to this woman.

Reflecting further on his feelings about the case, the judge said "If I had had a .45 in 1979, I would have taken care of it at that time. That's how mad I was at that time."

Some of these statements by the judge were on the record and transcribed by the court reporter. However, at some point the judge

told the court reporter to "shut that thing off" and although he continued talking, he made some of these comments after the court reporter had stopped transcribing the proceedings. The judge's feelings were obviously in earnest, and he noted that his feelings that Mr. Engle should be executed came about during the 1979 trial.

(R. App. 433-34) (Affidavit of Josephine Holland).

After the cost motion, Judge Santora suggested that the motion to disqualify him be discussed next. After a lengthy discussion, the judge agreed that he should disqualify himself, that he was prejudiced against Mr. Engle. Judge Santora stated that he had developed an opinion during the 1979 trial that Mr. Engle was guilty and deserved to die. He also said that if he had it to do over, he would again sentence him to die.

After discussing his feelings about Mr. Engle, Judge Santora concluded that if he had had a .45 in 1979, he would have taken care of it right then. That's how mad he was at the defendant.

After disqualifying himself, Judge Santora told the court reporter to turn that thing off (the stenographic machine). Some of his comments were made after this point.

#### (R. App. 435-36) (Affidavit of Gary Hendrix).

The jury in this case voted that Mr. Engle should be sentenced to life. However, Judge Santora formed his opinion that Mr. Engle should die, no matter what, at the 1979 guilt-innocence trial. Judge Santora has now acknowledged this fact, a fact not stated by him earlier. No true consideration was afforded to the mitigating evidence presented by Mr. Engle at the 1979 sentencing and then the 1984 resentencing. This too is now clear. Judge Santora's recent candid statements also make it clear that he should have disqualified himself from presiding over the resentencing in 1984, as Mr. Engle had requested. During these 3.850 proceedings the Judge forthrightly disclosed his feelings: that he was going to sentence Mr. Engle to death no matter what, that he has always been "prejudiced" against Mr. Engle and remained so today, that the recusal motion "troubled" him but that he stayed on the case then in order not to pass it on to another judge. These facts have also come to light because of the Judge's candid and commendable admissions during the litigation of the Rule Finally, Judge Santora's recent statements make it clear that he 3.850 motion.

never applied (or even considered) the <u>Tedder</u> standard, never truly considered mitigation in this case because of his set feeling -- formed during the guiltinnocence trial -- that Mr. Engle had to be sentenced to death for what Mr. Engle "did",<sup>2</sup> and never evaluated whether <u>he</u> should have abided by the jury's verdict of life.

а

а

a

а

Mr. Engle was entitled to a fair sentencing decision from a circuit court judge who was not set on sentencing him to death. He was also entitled to a sentencing judge who would have considered and applied the <u>Tedder</u> standard:

> [i]n order to sustain a sentence of death following a jury recommendation of life, the facts suggesting a sentence of death should be so clear and convincing that virtually no reasonable person could differ.

<u>Tedder v. State</u>, 322 So. 2d 908, 910 (Fla. 1975). It is the trial judge's duty to apply that standard fairly and impartially <u>after</u> assessing the mitigation fully and the aggravation properly, and <u>after</u> considering the jury's verdict. Here, the circuit judge who sentenced Mr. Engle to death never did that. But it is the sentencing judge, not this Court on appeal, that sentences under Florida law, and Mr. Engle was entitled to a proper sentencing decision from the trial court judge:

This Court's role after a death sentence has been imposed is "review," a process qualitatively different from sentence "imposition." It consists of two discrete functions. First, we determine if the jury and judge acted with procedural rectitude in applying section 921.141 and our case law. This type of review is illustrated in <u>Elledge v. State</u>, 346 So.2d 998 (Fla. 1977), where we remanded for resentencing because the procedure was flawed--in that case a nonstatutory aggravating circumstance was considered. <u>See also</u> <u>Brown v. State</u>, 381 So.2d 690 (Fla. 1980); <u>Kampff v. State</u>, 371 So.2d 1007 (Fla. 1979).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>As shall also be discussed herein, the Judge's persistent belief that Mr. Engle "did" the actual killing was based on the improper consideration of statements by codefendant Stevens which Mr. Engle had never had an opportunity to rebut. That is why this Court initially vacated the death sentence and directed resentencing. Judge Santora, however, in his recent comments has made it clear that he has never been able to shake himself of a reliance on those statements -- not in 1984 and not today, and that he should have recused himself in 1984.

Neither of our sentence review functions, it will be noted, involves weighing or reevaluating the evidence adduced to establish aggravating and mitigating circumstances.

Brown v. Wainwright, 392 So. 2d 1327, 1331 (Fla. 1981) (footnote omitted).

Mr. Engle should never have been sentenced to die, At guilt-innocence, the jury in Mr. Engle's case deliberated for almost six hours. The jurors asked four substantive questions, requested easel and chalk, and asked for permission to retire for the evening so they could resume deliberations with a fresh start the next morning (T. 981-982). The questions asked were:

No.1 - Testimony of Nathan - We would like to see his testimony in which he said to the effect: "I know he (or they) killed her."

N0.2 - In order to prove first degree murder, must we be convinced that the defendant killed the victim?

No.3 - We do not now need Nathan's testimony. We do need the judge's definition previously requested.

No.4 - Do we have to be convinced defendant personally killed the victim to render a verdict of murder in the first degree?

These questions indicate that the jury seriously questioned the extent of Mr. Engle's involvement in the homicide. Although the jury eventually convicted Mr. Engle of the capital murder, after twenty-five (25) minutes of deliberations they recommended that he receive a life sentence. Their questions during deliberations and the life verdict indicate that they did not believe Mr. Engle was actively involved in the killing of the victim. The Judge, however, who presided over both trials, could not shake his reliance on codefendant Stevens' statements -- statements that Mr. Engle has never had a chance to rebut.

Indeed, there were many reasonable bases for the jury's verdict of life. Despite the reasonable factual bases for the jury's life recommendation and the legal restraints on Judge Santora to not ignore that recommendation, he sentenced Mr. Engle to death -- twice: 1) once based upon improper evidence from the co-defendant's statements and 2) then again based upon that same evidence and his unwaivering belief that Mr. Engle should die regardless of the

evidence or the law. These facts have only now come to light, because of the honest acknowledgments made by Judge Santora during the litigation of this Rule 3.850 motion. Judge Santora gave the jury recommendation absolutely no credence in this case -- either when he originally overrode or at the resentencing. As his recent statements indicate, Judge Santora made up his mind at the original trial that Mr. Engle deserved death, because of the statements of codefendant **Stevens**,<sup>3</sup> and because of that belief sentenced Mr. Engle to death at the original override sentencing and at the resentencing. The trial court never conscientiously applied the reasonable basis standard. <u>See Cochran v. State</u>, 547 So. 2d 928 (Fla. 1989); <u>Tedder</u>, <u>supra</u>. The court's most recent comments reflect as much.

On direct appeal, this Court vacated the death sentence because the judge in sentencing Mr. Engle to death relied on statements from . codefendant Stevens. <u>Ennle v. State</u>, 438 So. 2d 803, 814 (Fla. 1983). The case was remanded for a resentencing hearing before the judge without a new jury, because of the original jury verdict of life. At the resentencing, Mr. Engle, through counsel, made a motion to disqualify Judge Santora from presiding. Mr. Engle argued that it would be difficult or impossible for Judge Santora to ignore the statements of the co-defendant as instructed by this Court. Judge Santora denied the motion. It should have been granted: today, Judge Santora has acknowledged that the motion "troubled" him, but that he denied it because he did not then want to pass the responsibility to another judge.

At the resentencing, Mr. Engle presented additional evidence in mitigation, consisting of the testimony of his mother, Florence Engle, his sister, Peggy Jo Pugh, and (upon the State's stipulation) a written psychological evaluation by Dr. Vallely. Also before the court from the original sentencing proceeding in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Statements which this Court ruled the sentencing judge should never have considered. <u>Ennle v. State</u>, 438 So. 2d 803, 814 (Fla. 1983).

1979 were the pre-sentence investigation report and psychological evaluations by Drs. Ernest Miller and Lauren Yates. Moreover, the court received a memorandum of law (followed by four supplemental memoranda) in support of the reasonable bases for the jury's life recommendation. Despite this additional evidence and the court's duty to ignore the improper evidence from the co-defendant's statements, Judge Santora resentenced Mr. Engle to death.

The recent statements made by Judge Santora establish that the reimposition of death was clearly erroneous. Judge Santora's original override and later imposition of death were based precisely on the evidence which this Court instructed the trial court <u>not</u> to consider. What is also now clear is that the <u>Tedder</u> standard was never applied in this case -- Judge Santora has told us that he made up his mind to impose death <u>at the original trial</u>, and that decision is what dictated the result of his later actions.

Judge Santora's prejudgment that Mr. Engle deserved to die prevented him from making a proper sentencing determination in Mr. Engle's case. As Judge Santora has acknowledged, he formed the prejudgment before sentencing, while hearing the evidence at trial. This prejudgment prevented him from giving the jury's recommendation the "great weight" it is entitled to under the <u>Tedder</u> standard. At resentencing, it prevented him from properly recusing himself. This unwaivering prejudice was based upon the very evidence this Court instructed the Judge to ignore on remand. Moreover, it prevented the judge from fully, fairly, and properly considering the additional mitigation that Mr. Engle presented at the resentencing. Judge Santora's prejudgment prevented him from acting "with procedural rectitude in applying section 921.141 and [this Court's] case law." <u>Brown v. Wainwright</u>, 392 So. 2d 1327, 1331 (Fla. 1981).

Just as this Court vacated Mr. Engle's original sentence of death, it must vacate Judge Santora's reimposition of death. Although the question of the propriety of the override issue was presented to this Court on appeal from the

resentencing, the claim is now properly before this Court because newly disclosed facts (Judge Santora's recent comments) which were unavailable earlier establish the impropriety of the override. <u>See Lightbourne v. State</u>, 549 So. 2d 1364 (Fla. 1989); <u>Harich v. State</u>, 542 So. 2d 980 (Fla. 1989). Judge Santora has now stated the reasons employed in his decision to impose death, reasons which he did not state on the record earlier. As in <u>Harvard v. State</u>, 486 So. 2d 537 (Fla. 1986), and <u>Sonner v. Wainwright</u>, 769 F.2d 1488 (11th Cir. 1985)(in bane), the original judge's statements during the post-conviction process concerning the reasons behind his imposition of the death penalty shed new light on the constitutional error, and require that the claim be re-assessed.

The impropriety of Judge Santora's override of the jury's recommendation of life has been established. The judge has admitted his prejudgment that death was required in Mr. Engle's case, a prejudgment formed at the original guilt-innocence trial, and a prejudgment which prevented him from assessing the jury's verdict under the <u>Tedder</u> standard and the additional mitigating evidence presented at the resentencing. Under this Court's precedents, Mr. Engle is plainly entitled to a new, proper sentencing hearing before a judge who is not biased against him.<sup>4</sup>

This Court has made it clear that its "role after a death sentence has been imposed is 'review,' a process qualitatively different from sentence 'imposition.'" <u>Brown</u>, 392 so. 2d at 1331.<sup>5</sup> The rationale of this case law

<sup>4</sup>Judge Santora has recused himself from this 3.850 action and from any further proceedings in this case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>There is no question that this Court does not sentence and does not act as a resentencer when reviewing death sentences. <u>See Quince v. State</u>, 414 So. 2d 185, 187 (Fla. 1982)("Neither of our sentence review functions . . . involves weighing or reevaluating the evidence adduced to establish aggravating or mitigating circumstances"); <u>Lucas v. State</u>, 417 So. 2d 250, 251 (Fla. 1982) (This Court's role after a death sentence has been imposed is 'review', a process qualitatively different from sentence 'imposition'"); <u>Bates v. State</u>, 465 So. 2d 490, 493 (Fla. 1985)("As a reviewing court, we do not reweigh the evidence"); <u>Atkins v. State</u>, 497 So. 2d 1200, 1203 (Fla. 1986)("It is not this (continued...)

certainly applies to Mr. Engle's case. The need for a proper sentencing is now clearer than it was on direct appeal. Mr. Engle has never been afforded the right which is fundamental to an appropriate sentence under Florida law: the right to a sentencing proceeding at which the <u>judge</u> fully considers and evaluates the mitigation, aggravation, and jury verdict of life and <u>then</u> determines what would be the appropriate sentence. On direct appeal, this Court reversed the sentence because the trial court relied in part on the codefendant's statement. We now know that Judge Santora not only relied again on that evidence when resentencing Mr. Engle, but sentenced Mr. Engle to death based on his prejudgment that death was required, a prejudgment made at the original trial which guided the judge's actions thereafter.

We also note at the outset that this issue should not be reviewed in isolation. Judge Santora's sentencing decision was not only based upon his prejudice and without regard to the <u>Tedder</u> standard, his sentencing decision was also tainted by false evidence (<u>see</u> Claim III, <u>infra</u>), an incomplete and inadequate defense presentation concerning who Mr. Engle was in light of the substantial available mitigating evidence in this case (<u>See</u> Claims V and VI, <u>infra</u>), and Judge Santora's inability to properly consider the mitigating evidence that he did hear (<u>See</u> Claims II, IX, and XI). Mr. Engle presents herein substantial and compelling claims that his conviction and sentence were not constitutionally obtained. Some of the issues involved in this 3.850 action require an evidentiary hearing. Some warrant relief at this juncture. It is against this backdrop that this appeal should be considered.

а

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>></sup>(...continued)

court's function to engage in a general <u>de novo</u> re-weighing of the circumstances. Rather, we are to examine the record to ensure that findings relied upon and supported by the evidence").

#### PROCEDURAL HISTORY

This Court has before it the appeal of the circuit court's summary denial of Mr. Engle's motion for post-conviction relief, brought pursuant to Fla. R. Cr m. P. 3.850, and Mr. Engle's petition for a writ of habeas corpus, which is presently pending before the Court. Gregory Scott Engle was tried in the Fourth Judicial Circuit before Circuit Court Judge John E. Santora, Jr., who also presided over the trial of Mr. Engle's co-defendant Rufus Stevens. Mr. Engle was convicted and judgment was entered on June 2, 1979. After lengthy guiltinnocence deliberations, the jury deliberated for approximately twenty minutes at sentencing and then rendered a sentence of life imprisonment. The trial judge overrode the jury's verdict and on August 17, 1979, sentenced Mr. Engle to death. On appeal this Court affirmed the conviction but vacated the sentence and remanded the case for a new sentencing at which statements by the codefendant would not be considered. Engle v. State, 438 So. 2d 803 (Fla. 1983). That resentencing hearing was held without a jury on October 14, 1984, and in an order filed March 28, 1986, the trial court again sentenced Mr. Engle to death. On appeal this Court affirmed. Engle v. State, 510 So. 2d 881 (Fla. 1987).

On September 28, 1989, Mr. Engle filed a Rule 3.850 motion in the circuit court and a petition for habeas corpus in this Court. Mr. Engle also filed a Motion to Disqualify the original trial court judge from presiding over the 3.850 motion. At a hearing on that motion on October 10, 1989, Judge Santora acknowledged his prejudice against Mr. Engle and disqualified himself. Circuit Judge Olliff heard argument on the 3.850 motion on October 15, 1989, and in an order dated October 18, 1989, denied all relief. Mr. Engle appealed from the denial of that motion and applied to this Court for a stay of his then-scheduled execution. This Court granted a stay of execution. This appeal follows.

#### CLAIM $\mathbf{I}$

THE TRIAL COURT'S SUMMARY DENIAL OF MR. ENGLE'S MOTION TO VACATE WAS ERRONEOUS AS A MATTER OF LAW AND FACT.

After Judge Santora recused himself, Judge Olliff took over the case. Over the defense's vehement and strenuous objections (written, R. App. **278-285**, and oral) Judge Olliff signed <u>verbatim</u> the one-sided and inaccurate order prepared by the State denying an evidentiary hearing and Rule **3.850** relief.

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