#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



OCT 24 1989

GREGORY SCOTT ENGLE,

Appellant,

By Deputy Clerk

v.

CASE NO. 74,902

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK C. MENSER #239161 ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

A convicted defendant's claim that counsel's assistance was so defective as to require reversal of a conviction or death sentence

has two components. First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was This requires showing that deficient. counsel made errors so serious that counsel functioning as the "counsel" defendant quaranteed the by the Second, the defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. The requires showing that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable. Unless, a defendant makes both the showings, it cannot be said the conviction or death resulted from a breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable.

#### 80 L.Ed.2d at 693.

Strickland goes on to state that counsel must be judged from "his shoes at the time" and not by hindsight. Also, since no two lawyers would ever try a case the exact same way, the "expert" opinions of some reviewing lawyer are irrelevant. Strickland also clearly states that the conduct of counsel may be affected by the conduct and demands of the client, while concluding:

An error by counsel, even if professionally unreasonable, does not warrant setting aside the judgment of a criminal proceeding if the error had not effect on the judgments.

#### Id. at 696

These passages clearly show that Mr. Engle's claim that he only has to show "unreasonable" attorney performance and (undefined) "prejudice" is an egregious misstatement of his duty.

# (B) Evidentiary Hearing

Strickland, supra, notes that the issue of ineffective assistance of counsel is a mixed question of law and fact that, as a result, is subject to de novo federal review. Although the Eleventh Circuit, has opined that Florida "ought" to have

evidentiary hearings on this issue, the Court has also made it clear that it will not be bound by our conclusions no matter what the state courts do. See **LoConte** v. **Dugger**, 847 F.2d 745 (11th Cir. 1988).

Due to the proliferation of frivolous claims, the Eleventh Circuit has begun to recognize that this issue may in fact be resolved without an evidentiary hearing where the record suffices to defeat it. See Bertolotti v. Dugger, 883 F.2d 1503 (11th Cir. 1989) Case No. 89-3104; Bundy v. Dugger, 850 F.2d 1402 (11th Cir. 1988).

Strickland, recognizes that the legal principles gov rning Florida and federal "ineffectiveness" claims are so similar as to be nearly identical. Thus, if the record can resolve factual issues, if the allegations fail to establish error or prejudice, or if the law does not support Engle, then relief may me summarily denied.

The strategic decisions of Mr. Engle and his capable trial attorney, Mr. Shorestein, were carefully laid out in the record. In his opening statement, Shorestein (R 292, et seg) said:

• • let me tell you from the outset that the defense will not question under any circumstances that Mrs. Tolin was in the store in the early hours on the morning in question. (R 293-94)

and

The identification of the body won't be questioned • Generally, the Medical Examiner's report will not be questioned. In fact, there's little or no disagreement but almost a total agreement in what the prosecutor's indicated is the first half of the case. (R 294).

Mr. Shorestein's strategy was to maintain his and his client's credibility by not contesting the fact or details of the murder. Shorestein's defense was simple; "there was a murder, but Engle was not involved in it." Shorestein relied heavily upon the circumstantial nature of the State's case and the State's difficulty in linking Engle to the killing. See closing, (R 820). "The relationship of my client Scott Engle, to the crime has not been [proven]."

In his closing, Shorestein noted that he had not cross-examined some witnesses (R 824) and turned this fact to his strategic advantage. Counsel did the same with the State's use of color photographs as evidence. (R 825).

It should also be noted that:

- (1) Engle acknowledges, on the record, that he and his attorney reviewed the evidence and discussed it thoroughly. (R 756).
- (2) Engle states that there was nothing that was not done on his behalf. (R 756).
- (3) Engle acknowledged that Mr. Shorestein had hired or used a private investigator and took pretrial depositions. (R 756).
- (4) Engle agreed that the decision not to cross-examine witnesses was based upon this investigation. (R 756).

Regarding the specific claims at bar, the State notes:

# (i) Counsel's alleged "failure to raise Fourth Amendment issues.

To establish ineffective assistance of counsel under a "failure to litigate Fourth Amendment issue" claim, the defendant faces an especially difficult burden. First the defendant must prove that the Fourth Amendment claim would have prevailed and then he must satisfy the two part test of Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 688 (1984). See Kimmelman v. Morrison, U.S. \_\_\_\_, 91 L.Ed.2d 305 (1986).

In this case, a gratuitous summary of the evidence has been provided to support a **de novo** Fourth Amendment claim. We would note at the outset that this procedurally barred issue cannot be litigated "through the back door" under the rubric of a claim of "ineffective counsel." **Blanco v. State,** 507 So.2d 1377 (Fla. 1987).

Still, Engle cannot satisfy the double hurdle of **Kimmelman** and **Strickland**.

First, Engle's recitations regarding his arrest and the exigencies of the case are hopelessly egregious. The truth is, the police picked up Nathan Hamilton during the 3-11 shift on March 19, 1979. (R 390). Hamilton was known to have information on the murder, but he refused to speak until his family was protected from possible harm by Engle. This demand was conveyed after 11:25 p.m. on March 19th. (R 590-91). Between midnight and 1:00 a.m., on March 20, the police secured Hamilton's family. (R 592-93). Indeed, Rufus Stevens was encountered at the trailer. Hamilton then gave his statement implicating Engle and, by 3:25 a.m. that morning, Engle - an at-large murderer - was picked up at home.

Engle was living with a family named Wemmer. After the police saw Rufus Stevens at Hamilton's trailer, Stevens went to the Wemmer home and warned Engle that Hamilton could be turning them in. (R 592-93, 481, 498, 516, 526-27).

The police moved quickly to pick up this at-large murderer just because such a thing could happen and because flight from the jurisdiction could result. Thus, the exigencies needed to justify Engle's arrest were real.

Florida, in 1979, allowed warrantless arrests. See **State** v. **Perez**, 277 So.2d 778 (Fla. 1973). Counsel is not expected to have foreseen changes in law and cannot be said to have erred.

There was no reasonable basis for a challenge to the arrest, no guarantee of success on a Fourth Amendment claim, no error by counsel, and under the totality of the case, no prejudice.  $^4$ 

#### (B) "Statement of Co-Defendant"

The actual statements made by Rufus Stevens were not admitted in the guilt phase of the trial, as noted in **Engle** v. **State**, 438 So.2d 803 (Fla. 1983). Nevertheless, we note that Mr. Stevens raised this same issue (as to Mr. Hamilton and Engle's "statements") in his Rule 3.850 appeal and the Supreme Court denied relief, stating that "the decision to object" is a matter of trial tactics which would not be questioned.

Even if Engle's counsel "erred", we note that in **United**States v. Cronic, 466 U.S. 648, 666 (1984), the Supreme Court held:

This same issue was rejected by this Court in Rufus Stevens v. State, So.2d (Fla. October 5, 1989).

When a true adversarial criminal trial has been conducted - even if defense counsel made demonstrable errors - the kind of testing envisioned by the Sixth Amendment has occurred.

Finally, counsel for Mr. Engle very effectively cross examined Hamilton, especially regarding his receipt of a \$5,000 reward for turning in his friend.

# (C) Failure to Request a "Richardson Hearing"

Engle alleges that his lawyer should have requested a "Richardson" hearing because the State produced a knife which Stevens, not Engle, used to stab the victim.

Engle's theory of the case was that Stevens stabbed the victim, and as counsel noted on the record, "I don't represent Rufus Stevens." (R 623).

The assertion that Engle's lawyer should have protected Stevens is baseless.

"Richardson" hearings are held to delve into discovery violations. As CCR confesses (pg. 25), the State revealed the existence of this knife to the defense during pretrial discovery.

There is no duty on the part of defense counsel to request frivolous hearings.

The petition is thus facially meritless.

#### (D) "Failure to Object to Jury Instruction

Defense lawyers are not expected to raise novel, illusory, fanciful objections to standard jury instructions, or to anticipate change in the law.

No court has **ever** upheld CCR's novel legal theory or struck the standard instruction in question. (In truth, the incredible assertion at bar is simply a new twist to the oft-rejected defense challenge to the concept of felony-murder **as** being punishable as first degree murder).

The contention is facially baseless and cannot satisfy Strickland.

# (E) Failure to Raise Voluntary Intoxication

Engle's defense was innocence, not "guilty but drunk". It is well established that defense counsel cannot be faulted for strategic choices of this kind. Harich v. Dugger, \_\_\_\_ F.2d \_\_\_\_ (11th Cir. 1988) (counsel not ineffective for failure to put on intoxication defense); Songer v. State, 733 F.2d 788 (11th Cir. 1984); Palmes v. Wainwright, 725 F.2d 1511 (11th Cir. 1984).

Again, the petition is facially deficient. Indeed, on this point it does not even allege "error" or "prejudice" much less show it.

# (F) Failure to Raise Competency to Stand Trial

Engle was and is competent **so** this issue is moot. (Even CCR has vouched for Engle's competence by having him swear to this petition after he saw Dr. Fox and on the same day he saw Dr. Carbonell).

# (G) Failure to Sequester Jury

The Supreme Court has already held that there was no error in not sequestering this jury. Thus, the petition does not allege or show "error" or "prejudice".

#### (H) Other Errors

No "other errors" are alleged by Mr. Engle.

# (ii) Ineffective assistance of counsel = penalty phase

The attorney who handled Mr. Engle's penalty phase in 1979, Mr. Shorestein, won a life recommendation from the advisory jury and has been credited by CCR, in this petition, with putting on a good enough penalty phase defense to have won. (See Claims X, XIII).

Mr. Shorestein had extensive mental health evaluations performed by psychologist Yates and psychiatrist Miller. The expert conclusions were that Engle, despite some problems, did not suffer significant impairment.

In this action, (CCR) Mr. Engle has gone to the usual covey of anti-death "experts" (Dr. Merikangas, Lewis, Carbonell, Fox and Krop) to second-guess Dr. Miller and to suggest that counsel had some duty to go beyond the honest evaluations at bar and find a professional defense expert. This is not the law.

Strickland, supra, rejected this very kind of claim. See also Strickland v. State, 397 So.2d 285 (Fla. 1981). In Foster v. Dugger, \_\_\_\_ F.2d 402 (11th Cir. 1987), the court specifically held that counsel is not required to go from doctor to doctor until he gets the desired diagnosis.

Counsel is not required to seek an evaluation in every case, no matter the actual competence of the defendant. **Bertolotti** v. **Dugger,** 883 F.2d 1503 (11th Cir. 1989), Case No. 89-3104. Of

course, our Rules of Criminal Procedure do **not** permit the use of a request for an evaluation as matter of course, in every case.

Finally, given Engle's long and violent history, counsel was not required to develop or present this evidence to the court either directly or indirectly. **Blanco** v. Dugger, 507 So.2d 1377 (Fla. 1987).

# (A) Failure to Effectively Cross-Examine Dr. Floro

This decision to minimize the gory nature of "Rufus Stevens'" crime has already been discussed.

# (B) Failure to Minimize Engle's Criminal Record

Counsel's approach to the penalty phase did not include opening the door to extensive inquiry into Engle's past crimes. As noted in counsel's closing arguments to the advisory jury, the strategy was to take a "straightforward" approach. Counsel's plan worked.

# (C) Failure to Request a "Confidential" Expert

This point presupposed that a confidential expert would examine the "patient" and reach a different result or "upon finding nothing wrong with Engle "enable counsel to go shopping for "experts" who were more friendly.

Claims "J", "G" and "H": Failure to Request Confidential Expert

There is no logical nexus between the "non-confidential" vs. "confidential" nature of the appointments of Drs. Yates, Miller and Vallely and the results of their work.

Engle's real complaint is that honest evaluations led to honest results.

The fact that Engle, a decade after trial, has found new experts (the usual CCR experts, Drs. Carbonell and Fox) is unavailing. There is a presumption that Engle pled his case more eloquently to these experts as his legal situation worsened.

Mims v. United States, 375 F.2d 135 (5th Cir. 1967); United States v. Mota, 598 F.2d 995 (5th Cir. 1979); United States v. Makris, 535 F.2d 899 (5th Cir. 1976). When, as here, the new experts have rendered opinions inconsistent with the trial record, their findings are not binding on the court. Bundy v. Dugger, 675 F.Supp. 622 (M.D. Fla. 1987), affirmed, 850 F.2d 1402 (11th Cir. 1988). Of course, partisan doctors have no credibility. Bertolotti v. Dugger, 883 F.2d 1503 (11th Cir. 1989).

The lower court's order enjoyed full record support and should be affirmed. The record showed three careful evaluations of Engle and Engle's active and cogent participation in his trial.

We do not accept appellate counsel's remarks regarding nonrecord conversations with any doctor. (Brief, pg. 124).

### Claim "I": "Booth" Issue

The lower court correctly found that the Booth v. Maryland, 482 U.S. 96 (1987), issue was not preserved at trial or on appeal and is procedurally barred. Jackson v. Dugger, 14 F.L.W. 355 (Fla. 1989); Jones v. Dugger, 533 So.2d 290 (Fla. 1988); Grossman v. State, 525 So.2d 833 (Fla. 1988); Eutzy v. State, 541 So.2d 1143 (Fla. 1989).

#### Claim "H": "Hitchcock"

The circuit court found this issue both procedurally barred and meritless. Mr. Engle challenges the procedural bar but cannot contend that he was wrongfully sentenced since the trial judge stated - on the record - that he considered non-statutory mitigating evidence.

Mr. Engle contends that he had the right to sit on his "Hitchcock" claim and do nothing until the second anniversary of the denial of certiorari. While a two year limitations period does exist for filing Rule 3.850 petitions, the State notes that Engle, in fact, was aware of this issue and could have filed it any time after his direct appeal was decided on June 25, 1987, whether a certiorari petition had been filed or not. [Certiorari petitions do not vest jurisdiction in the United States Supreme Court and do not preclude the filing of a collateral attack in state court].

Since Engle has never been precluded from filing a **Hitchcock** claim it is unfair to state that a mere, pending, certiorari petition would extend his two year deadline as to this issue. The August 1, 1989, deadline gave Engle over 25 months to file this claim.

We recognize that **Bundy** v. **State**, 538 So.2d 445 (Fla. 1989), holds that the "two year" period does not commence with the discovery of an issue. **Bundy**, however, does not address what we have here, which is the **refusal** to file a known claim for over two years. Also, **Bundy** recognized that when a defendant had ten full months to file a known claim, he was not prejudiced by the court's "failure" to give him more time.

Under these circumstances, we cannot say the court erred on the procedural issue. However, since the court is right if right for **any** reason, **Savage**, **supra**, we rely upon its alternative finding on the merits.

Despite "Hitchcock" error at trial, Engle got a life recommendation. Engle won resentencing on appeal in 1984, at which time the court stated for the record that it considered all non-statutory mitigating evidence. No "Lockett" claim was raised on appeal. The death sentence was affirmed under this Court's "new" approach to Tedder cases.

Any **Hitchcock** error was harmless and the circuit court should be affirmed.

#### Conclusion

Mr. Engle has failed to allege or show entitlement to relief.